IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-874

ROBERT BEELER POWER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT,
IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PAMELA H. IZAKOWITZ
Florida Bar No. 0053856
Capital Collateral Regional CounselSouth

303 S. Westland Avenue P.O. Box 3294
Tampa, FL 33601-3294
(813) 259-4424

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This appeal involves a Rule 3.850 motion on which an evidentiary hearing was granted on some issues, and summarily denied on others. References in the brief shall be as follows:

(R. ____) -- Record on Direct appeal;

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

On February 24, 1989, Robert Beeler Power was indicted in Orlando, Orange County, Florida on charges of first-degree premeditated murder, sexual battery, kidnapping, armed burglary and armed robbery (R. 2676-2678).

Mr. Power went to trial and was found guilty on all counts. After a delay of five (5) months, the penalty phase proceeded and the jury unanimously recommended a sentence of death (R. 3254). On November 8, 1990, the trial court imposed a sentence of death (R. 3254).

The trial court found four aggravating circumstances -Mr. Power had previously been convicted of another violent
felony; the capital offense was committed during an enumerated
felony; the capital offense was especially heinous, atrocious
and cruel and the capital offense was committed in a cold,
calculated and premeditated fashion (R. 3258-3271).

The trial court found the mitigating circumstance of the comparative cost and degree of executing Mr. Power versus life in prison to be strong and heavily weighted, however, the trial court found this mitigating circumstances to be legally inappropriate for consideration or deserved little weight (R. 3258-3271). The trial court found Mr. Power's age and lack of future dangerousness not mitigating circumstances (R. 3258-

 $3271).^{1}$

On direct appeal, this Court struck the aggravating circumstances of cold, calculated and premeditated, but upheld Mr. Power's death sentence. <u>Power v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 856 (Fla. 1996), cert. denied, <u>Power v. Florida</u>, 113 S.Ct. 1863 (1993).

Mr. Power filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion on June 27, 1994. An amended motion was filed on March 17, 1995. The third and final amended motion was filed on November 23, 1998 and raised thirty-eight (38) claims.

A hearing pursuant to <u>Huff v. State</u>, 622 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1993) was held on May 6, 1999. The trial court issued an order granting an evidentiary hearing on eight of Mr. Power's claims and set the evidentiary hearing for October 11-13, 1999(PC-R. 568-571). Among the claims to be heard at an evidentiary hearing were whether trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present mitigating evidence, and whether Mr. Power's counsel was ineffective for failing to obtain an adequate mental health and background evaluation on Mr. Power for the penalty phase of the trial (PC-R. 569).

Before Mr. Power's evidentiary hearing, the State

¹The trial court judge was Gary Formet. After his death, Mr. Power's case was transferred to Circuit Court Judge Alice Blackwell White (PC-R. at 149).

attempted to have Mr. Power evaluated for competency (PC-R. at 2546). The trial court appointed three experts to evaluate Mr. Power. Counsel for Mr. Power objected and filed an interlocutory appeal to this Court, arguing Mr. Power's counsel had not called into questions Mr. Power's competency to proceed in post-conviction (PC-R. at 2595). This Court stayed the lower court proceedings and ordered briefing. But on September 5, 2000, this Court dismissed the interlocutory appeal without issuing an opinion (SC96659).

Mr. Power's evidentiary hearing was held on January 29-31, 2001 and April 2-5, 2001, with closing arguments due on May 25, 2001. The trial court denied relief on January 25, 2002. Rehearing was denied on March 11, 2002. This appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

1. No adversarial testing occurred at the penalty phase.

The evidentiary hearing court and the trial court both determined that Mr. Power made a valid and knowing waiver of mitigation. But Mr. Power did not waive mitigation. In fact, Mr. Power, who has a history of depression and brain damage, was unable to make a knowing, valid and intelligent waiver. Trial counsel failed to present the compelling and extensive mitigation found by the State at his penalty phase to the judge or jury because he mistakenly believed that Mr. Power had waived mitigation. No constitutional waiver hearing occurred. No adversarial testing occurred because Mr. Power's judge or jury did not learn of the mitigation that was ready to be presented. The hearing court correctly found that "a great deal of very compelling information which the jury should indeed have heard prior to rendering its sentencing recommendation" (PC-R. at 3731), but did not because trial counsel and the trial court were under the erroneous belief that Mr. Power waived mitigation. Mr. Power is entitled to a new penalty phase so that a jury can hear the compelling mitigation that was never presented.

2. Mr. Power was improperly shackled during his trial.

Testimony from State witnesses at the evidentiary hearing indicated that Mr. Power was shackled and may have appeared in chains before the jury. At trial, no inquiry about Mr. Power's shackling was made. Mr. Power's due process rights were violated.

3. Mr. Power sought to interview the jurors who may have

seen him shackled and who may have been influenced by what they saw. The trial court denied all efforts by Mr. Power to interview the jurors about this shackling issue. The trial court's failure to allow Mr. Power access to the jurors violates his rights and his access to the court.

4. An unsigned sentencing order was found in the files of

the State Attorney and testimony at the evidentiary hearing could not explain why. None of the witnesses could account for an unsigned sentencing order in the State Attorney files. Because the evidence is inconclusive, Mr. Power is entitled to relief.

5. Mr. Power's record on appeal is incomplete at the trial

level and in post-conviction. The trial transcript is riddled with errors, while the transcript from the evidentiary hearing

has more than 78 errors that were pointed out to the hearing judge. The hearing judge ignored these errors. Mr. Power is entitled to a complete and accurate record on appeal.

- 6. Relief is warranted because of counsel's failure to object to constitutional error. Counsel failed to object to overbroad jury instructions and to instructions that diluted the jury's sense of responsibility as a sentencer.
 - 7. The State introduced non-statutory aggravating factors

to Mr. Power's detriment. Trial counsel erred in failing to object to these factors.

8. The trial court erred in failing to find mitigation in

the record. Trial counsel failed to object to this error.

- 9. Mr. Power's trial was replete with prosecutorial misconduct, at the guilt and penalty phase. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this misconduct.
 - 10. The trial court erroneously instructed Mr. Power's jury

on flight and trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this error.

11. The death penalty is cruel and unusual punishment.

- 12. Mr. Power is insane to be executed.
- 13. The cumulative errors in Mr. Power's guilt and penalty

phase entitle him to a new trial and penalty phase.

ARGUMENT I -- NO ADVERSARIAL TESTING AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

INTRODUCTION. Mr. Power did not waive mitigation. But at the

penalty phase, trial counsel failed to present mitigation, even though the State Attorney gathered it for him, because he was under the mistaken belief that his client wanted to waive mitigation. Mr. Power was not capable of waiving mitigation. He had suffered from depression for many years and was incapable of making a valid, knowing and intelligent waiver.

The Office of the State Attorney conducted its own investigation into Mr. Power's mental health background and turned the material over to the defense when it believed that Mr. Power was waiving mental health mitigation and when it believed that defense counsel was not properly preparing for penalty phase (R. 3329).

In an abundance of caution, the State Attorney handed over Mr. Power's background materials to the defense counsel. A memorandum to the files from State Investigator Amy Harmon with records from the California Department of Corrections indicated that Mr. Power was treated with Elavil for manic depression (PC-R. at 2839). Another memo to the files by Ms. Harmon referred to Mr. Power's "huffing" of petrol-hydrocarbons and his mother's ingestion of alcohol during her

pregnancy with Mr. Power (PC-R. at 3195). This information was turned over to the defense **before** Mr. Power's trial.

Despite the documentation that should have alerted counsel to Mr. Power's depression and organic brain damage, counsel conducted no further investigation.²

Instead, trial counsel was under the mistaken belief that Mr. Power wanted to waive mitigation. Trial counsel's belief was based on conversations between Mr. Power, the court and himself. During those conversations, Mr. Power wanted to know what information defense counsel had gathered before he agreed that it should be presented. But defense counsel had gathered nothing.

Trial counsel accepted the alleged waiver without investigating whether the waiver was knowing, intelligent and voluntary, to Mr. Power's substantial prejudice.

²The Office of the State Attorney did the bulk of investigation into Mr. Power's background because it was concerned that defense counsel was not properly preparing for the penalty phase. The State received no witness list and follow up on medical reports. Because of the defense attorney's lack of preparation, the State Attorney urged the trial court to conduct <u>in-camera</u> hearings (R. 3329).

The State Attorney obtained hospital and prison records of Mr. Power and turned them over to the defense (R. 3130-3168). See also, R. 3173, State's Motion for Order Directing Production of Hospital Records, July 23, 1990.

After it learned that Mr. Power huffed gasoline as a child and may have organic brain damage, it sought a neurological exam of Mr. Power (R. 3181-3183). The trial court granted the state motion and ordered neurological testing (R. 3179-3180).

Based on the background material given to him by the State Attorney, trial counsel should have been aware that Mr. Power was suffering from depression and organic brain damage. Although he acknowledged that he received psychiatric records on Mr. Power, trial counsel said he did not have a chance to review them (R. 2351). Mr. Power had been evaluated for competency by Dr. James Merikangas before his trial in Seminole County. As a result of his examination, Dr. Merikangas reported to the Seminole County court:

He is very depressed at present and I believe represents a risk for suicide. He reports having been depressed all his life/

I believe that he is currently in need of psychiatric assistance as he is **severely depressed** and may be better able to cooperate with counsel if given appropriate medical care.

* * *

Neuropsychological testing is also

indicated

(report of Dr. James Merikangas, M.D., F.A.C.P., November 7, 1987)(Defense Exhibit 20)(PC-R. at 1437-1438)(emphasis added).

Despite Dr. Merikangas' recommending the need for

 $^{^{3}}$ Mr. Blankner began representing Mr. Power in the fall of 1987 in Osceola County (PC-R. at 1331-1332).

neuropsychological testing, trial counsel did not have Mr.

Power evaluated by a neuropsychologist. Despite the available evidence of Mr. Power's depression and organic brain damage, trial counsel failed to look into Mr. Power's mental state at the time of the penalty phase for possible mitigation.

Instead, he decided that Mr. Power wanted to waive mitigation, and never conducted any investigation into Mr. Power's background, and never presented any evidence to his jury.

The post-conviction hearing court conceded that "a great deal of compelling information [was available] which the jury should indeed have heard prior to rendering its sentence recommendation, and its [defense] experts were much more compelling and credible than those presented by the State."

(PC-R. at 3731). Despite that view, the hearing court erroneously held that Mr. Power was "firm and unwaivering in his decision to refuse to allow counsel to present mitigation, and that he was capable of making this decision in a reasoned, well-informed manner" (PC-R. at 3731).

The hearing court's reasoning was the same flawed path relied on by trial counsel. Both believed that it was possible for Mr. Power to make a knowing and intelligent waiver, without being given any information on what mitigation existed, without any mental health evaluation or discussion

with any defense mental health expert. The trial court and the hearing court believed as trial counsel did that if a defendant is found competent to stand trial three years earlier, then he has the ability to decide trial strategy, regardless of his mental disabilities.

This mistaken belief was not based on any case law or rule of law. Nevertheless, trial counsel failed to present or even proffer compelling mitigation evidence to the judge, jury or into the record. Even at sentencing, trial counsel failed to notify the judge of mitigation that it should consider before deciding whether to sentence Mr. Power to death or in conducting a valid proportionality-based analysis. Because of trial counsel's failure and inaction, no adversarial testing occurred.

Ineffective Assistance of Counsel

Trial counsel failed to recognize that Mr. Power could not

⁴The trial court relied on her ability to "observe Mr. Power in person. At all times, he appeared to be alert and intelligent, he was engaged in the proceedings and frequently communicated with his lawyers." (PC-R. at 3731). The trial court's ability to observe Mr. Power in court proceedings ten years after the fact should have no bearing whatsoever on his depression and brain damage at the time of trial and his ability to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of mitigation at his penalty phase. The trial court confused competency with the ability to waive mitigation, which are two distinct issues.

knowing and intelligently waive his penalty phase evidence when he did not know what it was he was waiving. Because trial counsel had not done any investigation into Mr. Power's background, even though it was handed to him by the State Attorney, Mr. Power could not know what mitigating evidence existed or how it could be used. Mr. Power could not knowingly and intelligently waive what he did not know.

Mr. Power "had a right -- indeed a constitutionally protected right -- to provide the jury with the mitigating evidence that his trial counsel either failed to discover or failed to offer." Williams v. Taylor, 120 S. Ct. 1495, 1513 (2000). Accord, Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). As with any waiver of a constitutional right, Mr. Power's waiver must be knowing, voluntary and intelligent for it to be valid. Faretta v. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975); Deaton v. Dugger, 635 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1994); State v. Lewis, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S 1032 (December 12, 2002).

If a defendant "waives" mitigation, but counsel fails to investigate and the client is in the dark about what he is "waiving," the Sixth Amendment is violated. <u>Deaton; Blanco v. Singletary</u>, 943 F. 2d 1477 (11th Cir. 1991); <u>Emerson v. Gramley</u>, 91 F. 3d 898 (7th Cir. 1996); <u>Glenn v. Tate</u>, 71 F. 3d 1204 (6th Cir. 1995).

Such was the case here. Mr. Power received ineffective assistance of counsel because his trial attorney failed to obtain an adequate mental health evaluation and background on Mr. Power for penalty phase. Mr. Power failed to make a knowing and intelligent waiver of his rights at the penalty phase. Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to investigate his client's capability to make that waiver, and for failing to, at least, proffer that evidence to the court. See, Muhammad v. State, 782 So. 2d 343, 363-364 (2001).

At the time he represented Mr. Power, trial counsel Wesley Blankner had never defended a client in a first-degree murder case that went to penalty phase (PC-R. at 1335). He first represented Mr. Power on his Osceola County rape cases and during that time, said he became aware of Mr. Power's difficult life (PC-R. at 1370-1373).

By the time of Mr. Power's penalty phase in November, 1990, Mr. Blankner testified at the evidentiary hearing in 2001 that he knew much about Mr. Power's background. He knew that Mr. Power had spent time in mental hospitals in California and that Mr. Power's first suicide attempt was when he was 10 years old (PC-R. at 1330, 1422). He knew that Mr.

⁵Mr. Blankner handled five first-degree murder trials as a prosecutor, but none as a defense attorney (PC-R. at 1334).

Power had a nervous breakdown at age 13 (PC-R. at 1422); was hospitalized at age 15 (PC-R. at 1423); and that his mother had suffered three nervous breakdowns (PC-R. at 1388-1389).

Mr. Blankner testified that he knew about Mr. Power's history of huffing gasoline and other inhalants (PC-R. at 1389-1390).

Mr. Blankner knew that as a child, Mr. Power was beaten and that his mother was an alcoholic (PC-R. at 1496).

Trial counsel testified that he knew about his client being sexually abused by Grady Highsmith when he was a child, although he did not talk to a mental health expert on the impact of sexual abuse. He said he had talked to Mr. Power's family about the abuse (PC-R. at 1353).

Mr. Blankner testified that he learned of this mitigation through some of his own investigation and through the investigation of the State Attorney, which was supplied to him. Mr. Blankner testified that he had never previously been involved in a case in which the State Attorney did a large part of the investigation for penalty phase as was done in this case (PC-R. at 1385). When asked what he did independently from the State investigation, Mr. Blankner said "we called the doctor and I can't remember which one it was out in California and talked to them about the information to see what kind of memory they had of the event" (PC-R. at

1405). Mr. Blankner was unable to remember the name of the doctor he spoke with and he took no notes of that conversation. Mr. Blankner failed to bring the doctor to Florida, proffer what he learned from the doctor or notify the judge of the information the doctor had (PC-R. at 1381).

Mr. Blankner testified that he took over the Osceola rape cases from the Public Defender, which occurred before the instant case, and that he received all the Public Defender files (PC-R. at 1377). Among those files was a Motion to Commit Defendant to Hospital for Physical Examination and Additional Testing. That motion was filed December 30, 1987, three years before the murder case went to trial. The motion said:

Defense Counsel has observed visible hand tremors, excessive pallor, weight loss, and other physical difficulties that has indicated possible physical and mental deterioration of the Defendant. The Defendant is currently experiencing severe migraines and other physical ailments, to include loud, piercing nonstop ringing in both ears. He has continually requested medical attention through the jail physician without relief. The Defendant's current medical condition has greatly impeded Defense Counsel's ability to communicate with the Defendant in preparing a defense to these If untreated, it will surely cause charges. Defense Counsel to be ineffective in his representation of the Defendant.

(Defense Exhibit 32).

Yet, Mr. Blankner testified at the evidentiary hearing that he had no indication of any mental problems suffered by Mr. Power during his representation. Mr. Blankner testified that despite having substantial mitigating evidence of Mr. Power's significant mental history, Mr. Power refused to give him permission to present testimony on his behalf (PC-R. at 1351).6 Mr. Blankner testified that "we did not believe we were permitted to present anything that Mr. Powers didn't agree to since he was found competent to stand trial." (PC-R. at 1360). Mr. Blankner testified that Mr. Power had been found competent during the Osceola rape cases, three years earlier, but no competency evaluation was conducted on Mr. Power before the 1990 murder case or during the six-month break between the guilt and penalty phases (PC-R. at 1360-1361). Mr. Blankner testified that the only authority he relied on was that Mr. Power was found competent to stand trial in 1987 (PC-R. at 1369-1370).

Mr. Blankner, who conceded that he was not a mental health expert, testified that he had constant contact with Mr. Power in the three years after the rape trials, and "Nothing

⁶This is but one example of the problems associated with defense counsel's inexperience as a defense attorney. Even though Mr. Blankner had prosecuted death cases, he had never had to deal with a mentallyill client.

about Mr. Power's demeanor ever changed" (PC-R. at 1360).

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