IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT BEELER POWER,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

CASE NO. SC02-874

APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

DOUGLAS T. SQUIRE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0088730

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL 444 Seabreeze Blvd., Suite 500 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 Telephone: (386)238-4990 Facsimile: (386)226-0457

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Statement of the Issue

Appellee restates the issue because Appellant's formulation is not posed in the form of a neutral question which frames the issue to be decided by this Court.

Standard of Review

The standard of review applied in reviewing a trial court's application of the law to a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing is two-pronged:

"'The appellate court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues but must review the court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo.' Bruno v. State, 807 So.2d 55, 62 (Fla.2001)." See State v. Lewis, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1032 (Dec. 12, 2002).

Argument

Power argues that the prosecutor impermissibly argued victim impact evidence based on the testimony of victims of a prior crime. (IB, 85). The circuit court addressed this claim and concluded:

The statement at issue was included within assistant state attorney Townes' discussion of the heinous, atrocious, and cruel aggravator:

Judge is also going to instruct you that you can consider whether the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel. And he is going to tell you what those words mean. I think he is going to tell you that heinous means extremely wick, or shockingly evil. It is for to search your hearts in the light of society's value, and decide whether the crimes against that child were extremely wicked and shockingly evil, and whether it is homicide, including the events that led was extremely wicked and to it, shockingly evil. He will tell you that atrocious means outrageously, wicked and vile. He will tell you that cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to or even enjoyment of the suffering of others. What we do know about the defendant is that he enjoyed the suffering of others. Aneeli didn't survive to tell us what happened, but when we listened to the stories of Ms. Wallace, when we listened to the testimony of the Warden

children, we realized that he takes pleasure in inflicting pain.

(R. 2575-76). [Emphasis added].

The Florida Supreme Court has held that such claims should be raised on direct appeal. See Diaz v. Dugger, 719 So. 2d 865, 868 (Fla. 1998) (claim involving use of non-statutory aggravating factors found procedurally barred); Torres Arboleda v. Dugger, 636 So. 2d 1321, 1323 (Fla. 1994) (claim that prosecutor improperly argued non-statutory aggravating factors held procedurally barred). Here, the underlying issue actually was raised on direct appeal. Point XV of the initial appellate brief argued that the trial court erred in considering aggravating circumstances which were not supported by the evidence, and specifically asserted the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel. The Florida Supreme Court found no abuse of discretion in the court's finding of this aggravator. Power, 605 So. 2d at 863-64. Also, point XVII of the initial appellate brief argued that §921.141(5)(h), Florida Statutes, unconstitutionally vague and the jury instruction thereon did not provide adequate guidance. The Florida Supreme Court also found this claim to be without merit.

(R, 3738-79). The trial court properly found this claim procedurally barred and without merit.

In his initial brief, Power simply copied the argument, including the lone sentence alleging "deficient assistance of counsel," made in his third amended Rule 3.850 motion. (R, 2324-25 & IB, 84-85). However, "'[t]he purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal.'

Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla.1990). Because [Power's] bare claim is unsupported by argument, this Court [should] affirm[] the trial court's summary denial of this subclaim. See Teffeteller v. Dugger, 734 So.2d 1009, 1020 (Fla.1999); Coolen v. State, 696 So.2d 738, 742 n. 2

(Fla.1997)." <u>Lawrence v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S877 (Fla. Oct. 17, 2002).

Notwithstanding Power's failure to provide an appellate argument - argument addressing the claimed errors in the trial court's ruling, the record shows, as outlined by the circuit court:

Furthermore, counsel's performance deficient. Counsel did not object to the specific statement at issue in this claim, but throughout the guilt phase, he kept evidence and testimony of Mr. Power's prior crimes, together with victim impact evidence, away from the jury. On April 9, 1990, counsel filed a motion to declare §921.143, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional as it related to victim impact evidence. (R. 2883-86). After a pretrial hearing, the trial court granted. this motion. (R. 2218-19, 3004). In addition, when the State filed a notice of intention to use collateral crimes evidence, counsel objected and after a hearing, the court excluded mention of collateral crimes. (R. 2914-40, 2995-3003, 307, 2266-2322). The Florida Supreme Court noted that the State was unsuccessful in attempting to introduce evidence that Mr. Power had been convicted of committing other sexual batteries the month before the present killing. Power, 609 So.2d at 861. Counsel objected to various other statements during the trial which he felt violated the trial court's ruling on collateral crimes evidence. (R. 1531, 1585-1602). In addition, counsel objected to the application of the heinous, atrocious, and cruel aggravator at the charge conference, but the court determined the instruction applied. (R. 2537-45, 2564, 2592). Counsel even objected to the instruction again after it was given. (R. 2596).

(R, 3739-40), that any claim of deficient performance by counsel is without merit. Moreover, prejudice could never have been established on this record.

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER POWER'S CLAIM THAT THE TRIAL COURT FAILED TO FIND STATUTORY AND NON-STATUTORY MITIGATION IN THE RECORD IS COGNIZABLE IN THE INSTANT ACTION?

Statement of the Issue

Appellee restates the issue because Appellant's formulation is not posed in the form of a neutral question which frames the issue to be decided by this Court.

Standard of Review

The standard of review applied in reviewing a trial court's application of the law to a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing is two-pronged: "'The appellate court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues but must review the court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo.' Bruno v. State, 807 So.2d 55, 62 (Fla.2001)." See State v. Lewis, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1032 (Dec. 12, 2002).

Argument

Power argues that "[t]he court erroneously failed to find statutory and non-statutory mitigation on Mr. Power's behalf." (IB, 85). The circuit court addressed this claim and concluded:

Generally, a claim that a trial court erred by failing to consider mitigating evidence must be presented on direct appeal. Rivera v. State, 717 So. 2d 477, 480 (Fla. 1998); Cherry v. State, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1071 (Fla. 1995). In addition, arguments that death penalty is not effective as deterrent and that it costs state more to execute inmates than to incarcerate them for life are political questions rather than relevant concerns to be resolved during a trial. Johnson v. State, 660 So. 2d 648, 663 (Fla. 1995), cert. denied, 517 U.S. 1159 (1996). Mr. Power has not adequately alleged the failure of the court to consider any other mitigating circumstances.

(R, 3740).

Power does not address the trial court's finding that this claim was barred because it could or should have been raised on direct appeal. Nonetheless, as this Court recently held in Cherry v. Moore, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S810 (Fla. Oct. 3, 2002), the alleged failure to consider mitigating evidence was procedurally barred because it was raised on direct appeal. Thus, it cannot be argued that the alleged failure of the trial court to consider mitigating evidence could not have been raised on direct appeal in the instant case. As such, the trial court correctly found this claim procedurally barred.

ISSUE IX

WHETHER POWER'S CLAIM OF PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT IS COGNIZABLE IN THE INSTANT ACTION?

Statement of the Issue

Appellee restates the issue because Appellant's formulation is not posed in the form of a neutral question which frames the issue to be decided by this Court.

Standard of Review

The standard of review applied in reviewing a trial court's application of the law to a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing is two-pronged: "'The appellate court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues but must review the court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo.' Bruno v. State, 807 So.2d 55, 62 (Fla.2001)." See State v. Lewis, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1032 (Dec. 12, 2002).

Argument

Power argues that "[t]he prosecutor's acts of misconduct, both individually and cumulatively, deprived Mr. Power of his right under the Sixth, Eighth, and Fourteenth Amendments." (IB, 87). The circuit court addressed this claim and concluded:

Point II of the initial appellate brief raised the issue of prosecutorial misconduct, specifically asserting that the trial court erred in denying the defense motion for mistrial when the, prosecutor pointed out Mr. Power's failure to testify during closing argument. The Florida Supreme Court found that this error was harmless under the circumstances of this case: Power; 605 So. 2d at 861. Therefore, the substance of this claim, which cites several of these prosecutorial misconduct related errors, was raised on direct appeal. See also LeCroy v. Dugger, 727 So. 2d (Fla. 1998) (claim of 241 prosecutorial misconduct held procedurally barred).

Counsel's performance was not deficient. Arguably, the motion has not sufficiently alleged these numerous transgressions. Nevertheless, counsel did object to the State's alleged comments on Mr. Power's right to remain silent, and moved for a mistrial specifically on that basis and generally on other prior comments of the State. (R. 1983-84). The court denied the motion for mistrial. Counsel also objected to the State's comments "I point to the defendant and I say he is guilty as charged and the evidence shows it." (R. 1985-87). The court sustained that objection.

(R, 3741-42).

Again, Power has simply filed the exact argument made below. (R, 2328-34). So, not only does Power not address the trial court's ruling that this claim was found harmless by this Court on direct appeal; he does not address how this claim differs from the direct appeal claim, or why any such variation could not or should not have been raised on direct appeal, or why any such variation would not also have been found harmless by this Court. Nonetheless, Power's "substantive claims of prosecutorial"

misconduct could and should have been raised on direct appeal and thus are procedurally barred from consideration in a postconviction motion." <u>Spencer v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S35 (Jan. 9, 2003).

Regarding an ineffective assistance of trial counsel claim, as argued below by the State, Power's record excerpts, with no cites provided, are taken out of context and, as such, are insufficiently pled. For example, Power quotes the prosecutor's statement that "[b]ecause a police officer's interest is to see justice done. He has got no interest in seeing innocent people convicted." (IB at 87). By not identifying the context in which this statement was made, Power is attempting to suggest improper bolstering of a State witness by the prosecutor. However, a review of the record reveals that this comment was part of an attempt to explain to the jury the forthcoming instruction that they take into consideration whether or not the witness has an interest in how the case is decided. (R, 1948). The prosecutor went on to explain that the instruction was referencing witnesses with personal stakes in the outcome of the case, not necessarily the witnesses to the crime. (R, 1948-49). Thus, it is not clear that the statements were even objectionable. Further, the prosecutor's statement "I point to the defendant and I say he is guilty as charged and the evidence shows it," was objected to by trial counsel, and the objection was sustained by the trial court. (R, 1985). Power has failed to show that any of the statements, or the combined effect of them,

warranted the granting of a new trial; therefore, it has not been shown that, under the guidelines of <u>Strickland</u>, counsel's performance was deficient to the point of depriving Power of the effective assistance of counsel.

ISSUE X

WHETHER POWER'S CLAIM THAT THE JURY WAS IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED ON FLIGHT IS COGNIZABLE IN THE INSTANT ACTION?

Statement of the Issue

Appellee restates the issue because Appellant's formulation is not posed in the form of a neutral question which frames the issue to be decided by this Court.

Standard of Review

The standard of review applied in reviewing a trial court's application of the law to a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing is two-pronged: "'The appellate court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues but must review the court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo.' Bruno v. State, 807 So.2d 55, 62 (Fla.2001)." See State v. Lewis, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1032 (Dec. 12, 2002).

Argument

Power's argument consists of two sentences: (1)"This flight instruction was improper and it was error to give it to the jury." (2)"Trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to this improper instruction." (IB, 93). The circuit court addressed this claim and concluded:

Point IV in the initial appellate brief addressed the issue of the propriety of the trial court granting the state's request for a jury instruction on flight. In its opinion, the court stated:

Power's third point on appeal is that the trial court erred in instructing the jury on-flight-and in denying Power's request for a limiting instruction. The State maintained that the flight instruction was warranted because the evidence indicated that Power ran away- after he robbed Welty in the field behind the Bare home. Defense counsel pointed out that when Welty first spotted Power, Power was walking casually. Thus, defense counsel asked the court to narrow the flight instruction by informing the jury that the instruction applied only to the Welty because robberv of there insufficient evidence of flight from the murder, burglary, sexual battery, kidnapping.

Power, 605 So. 2d at 861. The court held that while it had recently abolished the flight instruction in Fenelon v. State, 594 So. 2d 292 (Fla. 1992), giving the instruction, even if error, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in this case. Id Therefore, this claim is procedurally barred because it was raised on direct appeal.

In addition, counsel's performance was not deficient. Counsel objected to the instruction several times. (R. 1821, 1841-43, 1845, 1936-37, 2075). The instruction was given at the end of the guilt phase, at which time counsel objected again. (R. 2089, 2098).

(R, 3753-54).

As shown in the Circuit Court's order, Power's argument to this Court is procedurally barred, inaccurate, and meritless. Thus, no entitlement to relief has been demonstrated.

ISSUE XI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S DEATH PENALTY STATUTE UNCONSTITUTIONALLY PERMITS CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT?

Statement of the Issue

Appellee restates the issue because Appellant's formulation is not posed in the form of a neutral question which frames the issue to be decided by this Court.

Standard of Review

The standard of review applied in reviewing a trial court's application of the law to a Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850 motion following an evidentiary hearing is two-pronged: "'The appellate court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues but must review the court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prongs de novo.' Bruno v. State, 807 So.2d 55, 62 (Fla.2001)." See State v. Lewis, 27 Fla. L. Weekly S1032 (Dec. 12, 2002).

Argument

Power argues that "[e]xecution by electrocution and/or lethal injection constitutes cruel and unusual punishment under the constitutions of both Florida and the United States." (IB, 94). The circuit court addressed this claim and correctly concluded: "Since the motion and response were filed, the Florida Supreme Court has issued legislation establishing the option of execution by lethal injection. See Sims v. State, 754 So.2d 657, 664-665 (Fla. 2000). Therefore, this claim is moot." (R, 3764). Power does not attempt to show error by the trial court, and asserts that he is raising the instant issue to preserve the arguments as to the constitutionality of the death penalty. The State does not concede that this cursory argument

preserves any issue for further review; however, as argued, no response is otherwise necessary.

ISSUE XII

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